RECEIVED
02-10-2020
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2018AP875-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

RYAN M. MUTH,

Defendant-Appellant-Respondent-Cross-Petitioner.

COMBINED BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-RESPONDENT-CROSS-PETITIONER

Andrew Mishlove State Bar Number: 1015053 MISHLOVE & STUCKERT, LLC 4425 N. Port Washington Road, Suite 110 Glendale, WI 53212 (414) 332-3499 Fax: (414) 332-4578

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. In a criminal restitution proceeding where the crime victims received a prior civil settlement for damages including "lost wages, expenses...," must the defendant produce extrinsic evidence of the nature of the unambiguous civil settlement agreement to show that the victims are seeking a double recovery?

 The court of appeals answered, no.
- In a criminal restitution proceeding, does the marital property law allow recovery of the lost wages of the spouse of a crime victim?
 The court of appeals answered, no.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 6, 2016 the defendant-appellant-respondent-cross-petitioner, Ryan Muth, committed the offense of homicide by intoxicated use of a motor vehicle, causing the tragic death of Tammy Kempf. Ms. Kempf was survived by her three children, Holly Marquardt, Katie Mortenson, and Rodney Kempf, along with their spouses and children. (R:1, criminal complaint).

On October 10, 2016 Muth entered a plea of guilty to the offense of homicide by intoxicated use of a motor vehicle. On December 22, 2016, Muth was sentenced to 13 years of prison and 13 years of extended supervision. (R: 33, judgment of conviction).

This case concerns the restitution order made at that sentencing hearing, and reaffirmed in post-conviction proceedings on February 9, 2017, and July 28,

2017, where the court denied Muth's defenses of setoff and accord and satisfaction¹, and also ordered restitution to the spouses of Ms. Kempf's children.

On February 9, 2017, the Court ordered the defendant pay restitution in the amount of \$43,270.42, the full amount claimed by the four victims, and their spouses, as follows (R: 61, restitution summary; R:63, restitution order; R:77 transcript):

- a. \$8,401.00 to be paid to Scott Fahser, Ms. Kempf's brother. Muth subsequently agreed to this payment.
- b. \$12,480.41 to be paid to Holly Marquardt, Ms. Kempf's daughter. This sum included the amount of \$1,600.00 for lost wages for Ms. Marquardt, and an additional \$2,600.00 for lost wages of her husband, Ryan Marquardt. It also included \$5,820.00 in funeral expenses, plus costs for mileage, thank you cards, and other expenses. (R:77, pp.24-28).
- c. \$13,689.00 to be paid to Katie Mortenson, Ms. Kempf's daughter.

 This sum included the amount of \$6,480.00 for lost wages for Andrew Mortenson, Ms. Mortenson's husband. It also included \$5,820.00 in funeral expenses, plus costs for school expenses for Mortenson's daughter, etc. (R:77, pp. 28-31).

¹ Although the court of appeals characterized Muth's defense as setoff, Muth also asserted the defense of accord and satisfaction. (R: 49). This is significant since setoff is a defense that requires the asserting party to prove specific payments to be credited against specific losses; whereas accord and satisfaction requires the asserting party to prove the existence of an agreement settling the claim, and payment pursuant to that agreement.

d. \$8,700.01 to be paid to Rodney Kempf, Ms. Kempf's son. This amount included \$1,209.60 for lost wages. It also included \$5,820.00 in funeral expenses, plus costs for a cell phone, attorney, postage, storage, and mileage. (R:77, pp.31-33).

Prior to the sentencing hearing, Ms. Kempf's three surviving children executed a civil settlement agreement in the amount of \$100,000.00 with Muth and his insurer, Progressive Insurance Company. The agreement was signed by Rodney Kempf on April 19, 2016 and by Holly Marquardt and Katie Mortenson on April 21, 2016. Each received a \$33,333.33 payment. Ms. Kempf's brother, Scott Fahser, was not a party to the settlement; hence, Muth did not object to the restitution order for Mr. Fahser, in the amount of \$8,401.00. (R49: Exh. 1, and par. 7; R: 77 throughout).

In consideration of a payment to Ms. Kempf's three surviving children in the amount of \$100,000.00, each of them executed "FULL RELEASE OF ALL CLAIMS WITH INDEMNITY" (R:49, exh. 1 and par. 7).

The pertinent language of the Release states that the settlement recipients:

"acquit and forever discharge Ryan Muth and Progressive Artisan & Truckers Casualty Insurance Company, of and from any and all claims, actions, causes of actions, demands, rights damages, costs, loss of wages, expenses, hospital and medical expenses, accrued or unaccrued claims for loss of consortium, loss of support or affection, loss of society and companionship on account of or in any way growing out of...an automobile accident which occurred on or about March 6, 2016...." (emphasis added).

Based on the prior settlement payment and release, Muth objected to the

restitution order, and asserted defenses of setoff, and accord and satisfaction, as to the claims of Ms. Kempf's three surviving children. Muth argued that he should be ordered to pay only the outstanding restitution claim of Scott Fahser, as the other claims were either satisfied, or were not allowable under the restitution statute. (R:77). Muth agreed that Ms. Kempf's children and her brother were victims within the meaning of Wis. Stat. §973.20. The claims of Ms. Kempf's daughters, however, include amounts for lost wages of their spouses. Muth also asserted that Ms. Kempf's sons-in-law were not victims within the meaning of Wis. Stat. §973.20 and objected to their claims.

The trial court invited written argument; hence Muth formalized his objections by motion. (R:49). On July 28, 2017, the trial court rendered a decision denying Muth's motion (R: 77) and entered an order on August 9, 2017 (R:63) reaffirming the restitution order.

Muth appealed to the court of appeals. The court of appeals agreed with Muth regarding the claims of Ms. Kempf's sons-in-law. The state was granted review of that decision. The court of appeals also held that Muth failed to satisfy his burden of proof as to what portion of the civil settlement may have satisfied the claim of damages in the criminal restitution proceeding. Muth was granted review of that decision.

ARGUMENT

The Victims Entered into a Clear, Unambiguous Accord with Muth, and Received Payment for Lost Wages and Expenses;
Hence the Restitution Award of Lost Wages and Funeral Expenses Provided a Prohibited Double-Recovery

Applicable Statutes

Wisconsin's restitution statute, Wis. Stat. §973.20 was enacted in 1987 and is patterned after the federal Victim Witness Protection Act (VWPA). 18 U.S.C. §3663-64. See also, *State v. Sweat*, 208 Wis. 2d 409, pp. 14-15 (1997). In pertinent part, it is as follows (emphasis added):

973.20(1r): When imposing sentence or ordering probation for any crime, other than a crime involving conduct that constitutes domestic abuse under s. 813.12 (1) (am) or 968.075 (1) (a), for which the defendant was convicted, the court, in addition to any other penalty authorized by law, shall order the defendant to make full or partial restitution under this section to any victim of a crime considered at sentencing...

- 973.20 (5): In any case, the restitution order may require that the defendant do one or more of the following:
- (a) Pay all special damages, but not general damages, substantiated by evidence in the record, which could be recovered in a civil action against the defendant for his or her conduct in the commission of a crime considered at sentencing...
- 973.20(8): Restitution ordered under this section does not limit or impair the right of a victim to sue and recover damages from the defendant in a civil action. The facts that restitution was required or paid are not admissible as evidence in a civil action and have no legal effect on the merits of a civil action. Any restitution made by payment or community service shall be set off against any judgment in favor of the victim in a civil

action arising out of the facts or events which were the basis for the restitution. The court trying the civil action shall hold a separate hearing to determine the validity and amount of any setoff asserted by the defendant.

973.20(14)(b): The burden of demonstrating, by the preponderance of the evidence, the financial resources of the defendant, the present and future earning ability of the defendant and the needs and earning ability of the defendant's dependents is on the defendant. The defendant may assert any defense that he or she could raise in a civil action for the loss sought to be compensated...

Accord and Satisfaction, and Setoff

Muth asserted both setoff and accord and satisfaction as defenses to the restitution order. To the extent that Muth's defense was based upon the existence of a settlement agreement that identified the victims' damage claims, and the satisfaction of that agreement by payment of \$100,000.00, it was, strictly speaking, a defense of accord and satisfaction. Even so, the argument that Muth's payment to the crime victims should be applied to amounts ordered as restitution, was more in the manner of a setoff defense. The nature of the two defenses is quite different.

Setoff is a defense that allows a debt to be reduced by virtue of payments made by the debtor to the creditor. The payments may or may not be related to the subject matter of the debt. The defense of setoff requires the asserting party to prove that specific payments or other consideration should reduce the claim of the other party.

Page 10 of 31

"Set off is a mode of defence by which the defendant acknowledges the justice of the plaintiff's demand, but sets up a demand of his own against the plaintiff, to counter-balance it either in whole or in part." Oliver L. Barbour, A Treatise on the Law of Set Off 3 (1841). Black's Law Dictionary (online) 11th ed. 2019).

Accord and satisfaction, by contrast is not a defense based on specific payments, but rather it is based on an agreement to settle a disputed claim and payment of the sums required by that agreement.

> 'Accord and satisfaction' means an agreement between the parties that something shall be given to, or done for, the person who has the right of action, in satisfaction of the cause of action. There must be not only agreement ('accord') but also consideration ('satisfaction'). Such an arrangement is really one of substituted performance." 1 E.W. Chance, Principles of Mercantile Law 101 (P.W. French ed., 13th ed. 1950). Black's Law Dictionary (online) 11th Ed. 2019.

The distinction is significant, as the setoff defense is not a complete defense, but rather it requires a finding of the amount of damages and the amount of payments, crediting the payments where appropriate. Since the general damages inherent in an injury or death case are by their nature indeterminate, the setoff defense places a substantial burden of proof on the defendant. Accord and satisfaction, by contrast, requires an agreement and payment to resolve a disputed claim. It is the accord itself that defines the amount of the damages. Importantly, in a tort claim where there are both special and general damages, and a payment of an insurance company's policy limits to satisfy the claim, the indeterminate nature of the general damages is enough of a "dispute" to trigger a defense of accord and satisfaction. See, e.g. Parsons ex rel. Cabaniss v. American Family *Ins. Co.*,2007 WI App 211, 305 Wis.2d 630, 740 N.W.2d 399, at pp. 10:

Even if we were to accept Parsons' contention that the accepted offer of judgment extinguished any dispute as to the value of her claim, we cannot accept the implication that the amount of damages that Parsons might have claimed over the \$100,000 policy limit was resolved as well. The ultimate value of her claim was still subject to a good faith dispute.

Accord and satisfaction is a complete defense within the plain meaning of "any defenses" of Wis. Stat. §973.20(14)(b)² yet it was, unfortunately, ignored in the court of appeals decision.

The statutory clause stating that a defendant in a restitution proceeding may assert "any defense that he or she could raise in a civil action," has been the subject of significant litigation that is useful to review.

Applicable Case Law

The state relies primarily on *State v. Walters*, 224 Wis. 2d 897 (Ct.App. 1999), that essentially bars the defense of accord and satisfaction. Muth asserts that *Walters* is distinguishable and that it requires clarification, as it should not have abrogated accord and satisfaction in restitution proceedings. As such, it is necessary to review the history of precedent interpreting the restitution statute.

In 1996 the court of appeals considered a modified "setoff" defense, in *Olson v. Kaprelian* 202 Wis.2d 377 (Ct. App. 1996). *Olson* was a contempt proceeding initiated by the crime victim, attempting to recover restitution from funds deposited as bail in an unrelated proceeding. The defendant challenged the

² Also referenced as "Section (14)(b)" herein.

authority of the court to attach the bail posted in the unrelated case, and also asserted that recovery was barred by "collateral estoppel," based upon the apparent settlement and dismissal of a civil suit arising out of the same incident.³ Olson offered no evidence of the settlement agreement in the civil suit, nor the amount of any payment. All that was offered was the order dismissing the case. The court of appeals disallowed any attachment of the unrelated bail money, and also addressed the defendant's substantive defense to the restitution claim, applying Wis. Stat. §973.20(8): "The court trying the civil action shall hold a separate hearing to determine the validity and amount of any setoff asserted by the defendant." The court of appeals analogized the post-conviction contempt proceeding to a civil proceeding initiated by the crime victim to obtain a judgement based on the restitution order. Since the defendant offered no evidence of the "validity and amount of any setoff," the court of appeals declined to reduce the restitution order. The failure of the criminal defendant to offer any evidence of the supposed prior settlement and payment doomed this awkwardly asserted defense to restitution.

In a 1997 decision, *State v. Sweat*, *supra*, this court considered the issue of whether the "any defense" language of section (14)(b) included the assertion of the civil statute of limitations. The defendant sought to use the civil statute of limitations to bar the victim from recovery. A divided court found the statute to

-

³ Olson offers no explanation as to why the defendant asserted collateral estoppel, rather than setoff or accord and satisfaction, nor any explanation of why a civil settlement agreement was not offered as evidence.

be ambiguous, interpreted the "any defenses" language to apply only to those defenses as to the amount of restitution, and excluded procedural defenses such as the statute of limitations. This court, thus, applied the criminal statute of limitations applicable to the criminal case underlying the restitution proceeding. *Sweat* was based on the policy considerations underlying the restitution statute. "A restitution hearing in a criminal proceeding is part of the criminal sentencing process, and serves the goals of the criminal justice system." *Sweat, supra* at pp.21. Applying these policy considerations to section (14)(b), this court also stated:

The natural interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 973.20(14)(b) and (d), and the only one which most comports with Wis. Stat. § 973.20 as a whole and the legislative policies that restitution is intended to serve is that in a restitution proceeding, a defendant should be able to raise substantive defenses, such as mitigation, set-off, or accord and satisfaction, which go to the measure or amount of total restitution.

Sweat, supra, at pp.26.

Thus, while *Sweat* interpreted the statute in a manner that limited its application, it also specifically placed accord and satisfaction in the category of available defenses.

Walters, supra, relied in part on United States v. Scheinbaum, 136 F.3rd 443 (5th Cir. 1998). Scheinbaum was a complicated banking and bankruptcy fraud case, resulting in a restitution order of \$498,955.00. The defendants argued that they did not owe the restitution, because they had entered into a prior civil settlement agreement with the victim. Critically, the defendants offered neither the terms of the agreement, nor the amount of consideration. The record contained

only the bare fact that an agreement was made. The federal court weighed the policy goals of restitution in terms of the private interest of the victim and the public interests of the state. Acknowledging that restitution is for "the benefit of" the victim, the court, nevertheless, held that the public interests of the state were the primary purpose of restitution and disallowed any reduction in the absence of evidence of the amount of payment. The court, however, also stated: "Of course, to avoid double-counting, a district court must reduce the size of its restitution order by any amount received by the victim as part of a civil settlement." *Scheinbaum*, at pp.3.

In 1999, the court of appeals decided *Walters, supra*, abrogating the defense of accord and satisfaction in restitution proceedings. Muth respectfully asserts that *Walters* was mistaken. The plain meaning of section 14(b) allows the accord and satisfaction defense, and the policy considerations relied on by *Walters* do not mandate abrogation of the defense. Moreover, unlike this case, the settlement agreement in *Walters* was vague, failing to identify any item of damages, thus leaving the court with no basis to determine if restitution was redundant. *Walters* was a drunk driving case in which the victim was injured. The victim entered into a settlement agreement with the defendant's insurer to settle the matter for a payment of \$25,000.00, in exchange for a release of "all claims and damages." Subsequently, the court ordered the defendant to pay restitution of \$24,000.00. The defendant asserted both accord and satisfaction and setoff defenses. As to accord and satisfaction, *Walters*, focusing on the policy underlying restitution,

determined it to be a matter of public interest rather than the private interest of the victim. Restitution serves the public interest of rehabilitation and deterrence by compensating a victim. Walters reasoned that since restitution was a right of the state, the victim had no ability to waive that right. Hence, accord and satisfaction as a complete defense to a restitution claim was not allowed. Even in a case of a valid accord and satisfaction, the court may still order restitution. Walters declined to be bound by the statement in Sweat acknowledging the defense of accord and satisfaction, finding it to be mere obiter dictum. Yet Walters treatment of the accord and satisfaction defense was also in the nature of dicta, since the settlement agreement at issue was too vague to be a basis for any defense.

In 2006, this court decided *Huml v. Vlazny*, 293 Wis.2d 169, 716 N.W.2d 807, 2006 WI 87. *Huml* was a case involving damages resulting from a drunk driving accident. The defendant caused the victim special damages resulting in a restitution order of \$140,000.00, to be paid at the rate of \$425.00 per month during the period of probation. When the probation expired there was a balance on the restitution of \$107,900.46, that was converted to a civil judgment. Meanwhile the victim filed a civil suit against the defendant. The civil suit was settled for an initial lump sum payment of \$548,000.00 plus continuing monthly and periodic payments for the rest of the victim's life. As a result of the civil settlement, the defendant sought to enforce the settlement agreement against the civil restitution judgment. The victim objected, citing *Sweat*, *Olson*, and *Walters*. In holding for the defendant, the court noted:

Case 2018AP000875

Filed 02-10-2020

An overview of Wis. Stat. §§ 973.09 and 973.20 reveals that a fundamental policy of these statutes is to make victims whole without allowing them to receive double recoveries. To achieve this result, the statutes afford three opportunities to avoid double recovery. First, a defendant may assert any defense, including accord and satisfaction or setoff, in the sentencing hearing at which the circuit court determines whether to impose restitution. § 973.20(14)(b); Sweat, 208 Wis. 2d at 424. Second, before a circuit court reduces any unpaid restitution to a civil judgment, the probationer may prove that the victim has already recovered damages from him that are the same as the damages covered by the restitution order. § 973.09(3)(b). Third, in a civil action a defendant may prove that restitution payments set off part or all of a civil judgment in favor of the victim. § 973.20(8).

Huml, supra at pp.22 (emphasis added).

Thus, *Huml* contradicted the court of appeals in *Walters* as to the applicability of an accord and satisfaction to criminal restitution. Huml also acknowledged the public interest in restitution, holding:

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