RECEIVED 02-10-2020 **CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN**

Filed 02-10-2020

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2018AP875-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

Case 2018AP000875

RYAN M. MUTH,

Defendant-Appellant-Cross-Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM A RESTITUTION ORDER ENTERED IN WASHINGTON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD K. MARTENS, PRESIDING

INITIAL BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

HANNAH S. JURSS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081221

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

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

equal ownership of marital income. Moreover, courts interpret the restitution and marital property statutes broadly, given their important purposes. A broad reading of these statutes permits restitution for lost marital income.

The Court of Appeals' rejection of an undeveloped marital property argument in *Johnson*, in the critically distinct context of a stepfather seeking his own lost wages, does not control here. Insofar as this Court should disagree, it should overturn any conflicting portion of *Johnson*.

Beyond the plain language and purposes of the statutes, other key principles of statutory construction further show that circuit courts have authority to order restitution for lost marital income. The language of closely related statutes reflects that the Legislature intended lost marital income to be recoverable as restitution. Statutory history shows that the Legislature knew that "income" for restitution purposes would include marital property, and that the Legislature intends for courts to have extensive authority to impose restitution. And interpreting the statutes otherwise would lead to an absurd, harsh result, contrary to the purposes of both the restitution and marital property statutes—that whether a victim may recover lost income resulting from a defendant's crime depends on the division of labor within the victim's marriage.

Lastly, related case law supports the circuit court's authority to impose restitution. This Court and the Court of Appeals have time and again reinforced the importance of reading of the restitution statute broadly, given the Legislature's purpose to compensate crime victims for losses resulting from the defendant's actions. Of all of the places where the Legislature would have drawn the line, this is not the place.

ARGUMENT

A circuit court may order a criminal defendant to pay restitution to a deceased victim's family member for lost marital income resulting from the crime.

A. Relevant legal principles

1. When interpreting statutes, this Court looks to plain language and purpose.

Statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute. State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." Id.

"Statutory purpose is important in discerning the plain meaning of a statute." Westmas v. Creekside Tree Service, Inc., 2018 WI 12, ¶ 19, 379 Wis. 2d 471, 907 N.W.2d 68 (citing Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 48). "[S]tatutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46.

"Therefore, in construing a statute, [this Court] favor[s] a construction that fulfills the purpose of the statute over one that defeats statutory purpose." Westmas, 379 Wis. 2d 471, ¶ 19; see also State v. Wiskerchen, 2019 WI 1, ¶¶ 20–22, 385 Wis. 2d 120, 921 N.W.2d 730 (setting forth statutory interpretation principles when interpreting the restitution statute).

A court may consider "statutory history as part of the context analysis." *State v. Williams*, 2014 WI 64, ¶ 17, 355 Wis. 2d 581, 852 N.W.2d 467. "By analyzing the changes the legislature has made over the course of several years, [this Court] may be assisted in arriving at the meaning of a statute." Id. n.6 (citation omitted).

Lastly, statutory provisions dealing with the same matter "should be read in harmony such that each has force and effect." *Belding v. Demoulin*, 2014 WI 8, ¶ 17, 352 Wis. 2d 359, 843 N.W.2d 373.

2. The restitution statute, crime victim rights statute, and marital property statute are relevant here.

The circuit court's ability to impose restitution here involves three statutes: the restitution statute, set forth in Wis. Stat. § 973.20; the definition of a crime "victim," set forth in Wis. Stat. § 950.02; and the marital property statute, set forth in Wis. Stat. § 766.31.

a. The restitution statute in Wis. Stat. § 973.20 authorizes recovery for income lost, and for special damages incurred.

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.20(1r) provides that when imposing sentence in a criminal case, the circuit court "shall order the defendant to make full or partial restitution under this section to any victim of a crime considered at sentencing or, if the victim is deceased, to his or her estate, unless the court finds substantial reason not to do so and states the reason on the record." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r).

Our restitution statute sets forth four types of restitution which a court may order in any case. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(5). Two are relevant here: (1) income lost; and (2) special damages.

A court may order a defendant to "[p]ay an amount equal to the income lost, and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred, by the person against whom a crime considered at sentencing was committed resulting from the filing of charges or cooperating in the investigation and prosecution of the crime." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(5)(b).

A court may also require the defendant to "[p]ay all special damages, but not general damages, substantiated by evidence in the record, which could be recovered in a civil action against the defendant for his or her conduct in the commission of a crime considered at sentencing." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(5)(a).

General damages—not permitted—are those that "compensate the victim for damages such as pain and suffering, anguish or humiliation." *State v. Holmgren*, 229 Wis. 2d 358, 365, 599 N.W.2d 876 (Ct. App. 1999) (citation omitted). Special damages, on the other hand, "represent the victim's actual pecuniary losses." *Id.* at 365.7

Beyond the lost income provision of Wis. Stat. § 973.20(5)(b), Wis. Stat. § 973.20 mentions "income" one other time in the context of a victim's income. If the crime resulted in bodily injury, a court may order the defendant to

⁷ A wrongful death action, for example, "may be brought" by the "person to whom the amount recovered belongs." Wis. Stat. § 895.04(1). "Judgment for damages for pecuniary injury from wrongful death may be awarded to any person entitled to bring a wrongful death action." Wis. Stat. § 895.04(4).

"[r]eimburse the injured person for income lost as a result of a crime considered at sentencing." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(3)(c).

Notably, that same subsection further provides that "[i]f the injured person's sole employment at the time of the injury was performing the duties of a homemaker," the court may order the defendant to "pay an amount sufficient to ensure that the duties are continued until the person is able to resume performance of the duties." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(3)(d).

Lastly, at a restitution hearing, the victim only has to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that she sustained the loss as a result of a crime considered at sentencing. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(14)(a). A restitution hearing is "not the equivalent of a civil trial." *Holmgren*, 229 Wis. 2d at 367.

b. The crime victim rights statute in Wis. Stat. § 950.02 defines "victim" to include a deceased victim's family members.

Our restitution statute uses the term "victim" but does not define it. See Wis. Stat. § 973.20. But the term "victim" is defined in Wis. Stat. § 950.02(4)(a), within the chapter concerning the rights of crime victims. When the "person against whom a crime has been committed" is deceased, the statute defines "victim" to include a "[f]amily member of the person who is deceased." Wis. Stat. § 950.02(4)(a)1., 4(a).

In State v. Gribble, 2001 WI App 227, ¶¶ 71–74, 248 Wis. 2d 409, 636 N.W.2d 488, the Court of Appeals concluded that the definition of "victim" for the restitution statute "is most reasonably interpreted using the definition in Wis. Stat. § 950.02(4)(a)." Id. ¶ 71. In Gribble, the Court of Appeals rested its conclusion—that the definition set forth in

Wis. Stat. § 950.02(4)(a) defines "victim" for the restitution statute—on two main factors:

First, Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v) provides the rights of crime victims, one of which is "to restitution" as provided under Wis. Stat. § 973.20. *Gribble*, 248 Wis. 2d 409, ¶ 71 (citing Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(q)).8

Second, the Court considered the legislative history of Chapter 950. *Gribble*, 248 Wis. 2d 409, ¶ 71. It noted that the Legislature broadened Chapter 950's definition of "Victim" in 1997, and at the same time enumerated restitution as a victim's right. *Id*. (citing 1997 Wis. Act. 181, §§ 60–61, 65). The Court found the Legislature's "expansion of the definition of victim at the same time that it added the reference to restitution under § 973.20" to be "an indication that the [L]egislature intended that everyone included in the expanded definition of victim has the right to restitution under § 973.20." *Id*.

So, when a victim is deceased, "[v]ictim" means "[a] family member of the person who is deceased." Wis. Stat. § 950.02(4)(a)4.a. Wisconsin Stat. § 950.02(3) defines "Family member" to mean "spouse, minor child, adult child, sibling, parent, or legal guardian."

⁸ Wisconsin Stat. § 950.04(1v)(q) also provides victims with the right to restitution under separate statutes, outside of Wis. Stat. § 973.20, not applicable here.

⁹ Prior to 1997, Wis. Stat. § 950.02(4) defined "Victim" as "a person against whom a crime has been committed." *See, e.g.* Wis. Stat. § 950.02(4) (1993–94.)

Case 2018AP000875

Filed 02-10-2020

The c. marital property statute in Wis. Stat. § 766.31 provides that spouses have an undivided interest in income earned by each spouse.

Wisconsin Stat. § 766.31 addresses the "classification" of income" under Wisconsin's marital property laws. Marital property means that "[e]ach spouse has a present undivided one-half interest in each item of marital property." Wis. Stat. § 766.31(3).

Importantly, our marital property laws establish a presumption that all property of spouses is marital property. Wis. Stat. § 766.31(2). Therefore, with certain limited exceptions, "income earned or accrued by a spouse or attributable to property of a spouse during the marriage and after the determination date is marital property." Wis. Stat. § 766.31(4).

Our marital property statutes also provide that a "recovery for personal injury" acquired during marriage is individual property "except for the amount of that recovery attributable to expenses paid or otherwise satisfied from marital property and except for the amount attributable to loss of income during marriage." Wis. Stat. § 766.31(7)(f).

> 3. The restitution and marital property statutes are liberally construed to serve the purposes of each statute.

Courts read both the restitution statute and the marital property statute broadly, given their important purposes.

First, this Court has explained that courts should construe the restitution statute "broadly and liberally in

order to allow victims to recover their losses as a result of a defendant's criminal conduct." *Wiskerchen*, 385 Wis. 2d 120, ¶ 22 (citation omitted). Broad and liberal construction of the restitution statute aligns with "[t]he primary purpose of Wis. Stat. § 973.20 [that] is to compensate the victim." Id. ¶ 22. Our restitution statute "reflects a strong equitable public policy that victims should not have to bear the burden of losses if the defendant is capable of making restitution." Id. ¶ 22 (citation omitted).

Therefore, "Wisconsin courts have repeatedly held that 'restitution is the rule and not the exception." *Wiskerchen*, 385 Wis. 2d 120, ¶ 22 (citation omitted).

Second, Chapter 766 explains that the marital property laws "shall be liberally construed," and that Legislature intended that "marital property is a form of community property." Wis. Stat. § 766.001.

Liberal construction of the marital property statute supports its purpose—shared ownership: "The rights of a wife in a community property system do not stem from title, but from a legally imposed undivided shared ownership interest in the couple's community estate." Caroline Bermeo Newcombe, The Origin and Civil Law Foundation of the Community Property System, Why California Adopted It and Why Community Property Principles Benefit Women, 11 U. Md. L.J. Race, Relig., Gender & Class 1, 11 (2011).

Thus, under our marital property laws, "Property classified as marital property is owned by both spouses equally." 14 Jay E. Grenig and Nathan A. Fishbach, Wisconsin Practice Series, Methods of Practice § 24:12 Marital Property (5th ed.).

- B. The circuit court had authority to order restitution for the lost marital income of the deceased victim's daughters resulting from the crime.
 - 1. The plain language and purposes of our restitution and marital property statutes permit restitution for lost marital income.

The plain language and purposes of our restitution and marital property statutes show that the circuit court had authority to order Muth to pay restitution for the lost marital income of his victim's adult daughters.

To start, it is important to clarify that Kempf's adult daughters, H.M. and K.M., are "victims" under the plain language of the applicable crime victim rights statutes. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 950.02(3), 950.02(4)(a)4.a. Muth has never argued to the contrary.

Additionally, beyond his arguments about the insurance settlement (to be addressed in his initial brief and the subsequent briefing) and his challenge to the lost wages of Kempf's daughters' husbands, Muth has not otherwise argued that the specific lost wages sought were not recoverable under Wis. Stat. § 973.20, or that the victims did not meet their burden of proof at the restitution hearing.

Put differently, if H.M. and K.M. had both worked outside of the home and their husbands had not, Muth would not be challenging their ability to recover all of the lost income they sought as restitution.

The question, therefore, is simply whether the circuit court had the authority to order restitution to Kempf's adult daughters for the lost wages of their husbands.

The answer to that question is yes. The circuit court had authority to order restitution to H.M. and K.M. for their lost marital income under the plain language and purpose of the restitution and marital property statutes.

As this Court has explained, when construing a statute, it favors a construction "that fulfills the purpose of the statute over one that defeats statutory purpose." *Westmas*, 379 Wis. 2d 471, ¶ 19. Here, we have two key statutory purposes:

First, we know the primary purpose of the restitution statute is to allow victims to recover losses resulting from the defendant's criminal conduct. *Wiskerchen*, 385 Wis. 2d 120, ¶ 22. Because of this important purpose, this Court interprets the restitution statute such that "restitution is the rule and not the exception." Id. (citation omitted).

So, when this Court reads the plain language of the restitution statute, it reads it broadly to *permit* restitution, instead of narrowly to prohibit restitution. *See Wiskerchen*, 385 Wis. 2d 120, ¶ 22. This, of course, does not mean that this Court reads into the statute what is not there. But it does mean that if the plain language permits a reading that allows for restitution, this Court should favor that reading. *Westmas*, 379 Wis. 2d 471, ¶ 19.

Second, we know that the Legislature intended that "marital property is a form of community property," that our marital property laws be liberally construed, and that each spouse has an equal interest in marital property. Wis. Stat. §§ 766.001, 766.31(3). The *presumption* is that all property of spouses is marital property. Wis. Stat. § 766.31(2).

In short, our laws should be read to presume that (1) restitution should be ordered wherever possible and (2) marital property belongs to both spouses.

With that in mind, a plain language reading of the relevant statutes in harmony shows that the court had authority to order restitution to H.M. and K.M. for their lost marital income:

The circuit court had the authority to award income damages victim. special to a Wis. § 973.20(5)(a)–(b). Lost income is recoverable to "the person against whom a crime. . .was committed" (i.e. the Wis. Stat. 950.02(4)(a)1. definition of "Victim"). § 973.20(5)(b). Victims may recover restitution for "special damages"—the victim's "pecuniary losses." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(5)(a); Holmgren, 229 Wis. 2d at 365. Again, Muth has not argued that the lost wages were not specifically recoverable for any reason other than the fact that the wages were lost by H.M. and K.M.'s husbands, not by H.M. and K.M. themselves.

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